ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2016 Jun 27 PM 5:15 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 115032

Case No. 16-115032-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF GEORGE WAYNE PROBASCO, DECEASED.

E. LOU BJORGAARD PROBASCO, SURVIVING SPOUSE,

Petitioner/Appellant

V.

JEFFREY W. PROBASCO, KRISTI A. HELLMUTH, AND PAULA S. FREEMAN, DECEDENT'S CHILDREN,

Respondents/Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLANT E. LOU BJORGAARD PROBASCO

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas The Honorable Frank J. Yeoman District Court Case No. 14PR12

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a probate case involving the will and trust of Topeka attorney G. Wayne Probasco. His wife of 28 years, E. Louise Bjorgaard Probasco, also a Topeka attorney, petitioned for probate after the trustee, with the concurrence and encouragement of Wayne's three adult children from a prior marriage, Jeffrey W. Probasco, Kristi A. Hellmuth and Paula S. Freeman, had failed to pay Wayne's obligations, including expenses of his last illness, funeral, and burial, or take any steps to quiet title to the homestead against a claim by Wayne's ex-wife, from whom he had been divorced for decades, of a 25% interest. Substantially all of Wayne's estate passed outside of probate through joint tenancy, beneficiary designations, and his Restated Trust Agreement, which directed the trustee, CoreFirst Bank and Trust, to pay his debts and obligations from certain trust, but the trustee would not act.

Therefore, Mrs. Probasco petitioned the court for allowance of demands, including repayment of substantial expenses she had advanced before and after her husband died and recovery of approximately \$600,000 of her funds plus the investment returns from those funds that Wayne was investing for her but had not had occasion and opportunity to return to her before his short and unexpected final illness. Wayne's children responded in opposition to Lou's petition and asserted setoffs, including a claim for investment management fees and for rent on the

homestead where Wayne and Lou had lived for nearly thirty years, in addition to the ex-wife's claim against the homestead.

These disputes were resolved by a written Settlement Agreement filed with the court on June 15, 2015 (the "SA"). (R 6, p. 519 et seq.) The SA provided Lou would be paid a lump sum in settlement of "the claims asserted by her in the Second Amended Petition for Allowance of Demands filed in the Estate" which sought only return and repayment of her own funds. The SA also provided that the ex-wife's claim on the homestead would be dismissed. Consistent with Wayne's Restated Trust Agreement, the SA specified that no debts or expenses of the estate or the trust would be paid from assets distributable to Lou. After payment of debts and expenses, the SA provided distributions of trust assets to the beneficiaries (Mrs. Probasco and Wayne's adult children) would be made as provided by the Fifth Amendment to the Restated Trust Agreement as written.

Wayne's children thereafter filed a petition with the court, which the court found required it to decide a single issue: "the meaning to be accorded to the specific bequests to Decedent's Children under the provisions of Subparagraph (2) of the Subject Fifth Amendment to the First Restatement of the Trust." (R 8, p. 92) This Subparagraph lists nine items of specific property. Six describe a single asset or type of asset: a Vanguard mutual fund account (Item a), three individual stocks with stock certificates in Wayne's name (Items c, e and f), his "account with Stiffel Nickels" (Item d), and two specifically described real estate sale contracts

(Item i). These items were not in dispute. Thus, the court further found: "The parties now agree that the only disputed assets are the 'Stock fund account with Merrill Lynch,' the 'Bond and Stock Account with Oppenheimer,' and the 'Bond account with Edward Jones,'" (R 8, p. 886, ¶ 7).

The witnesses called by both parties agreed that the language Wayne used had commonly understood meanings that were well known to Wayne (e.g., a "stock fund" is a mutual fund investing in stock and a "stock account" consists of individual stocks). By reference to the brokers' monthly account statements, which included "different types of assets" (R 8, 886, ¶ 8), the assets specifically bequeathed to Wayne's children could be readily identified by the plain meaning of the terms Wayne had used, and the specified assets could be readily distinguished from other types of assets, which were bequeathed to Lou as the residuary beneficiary.

The district court, however, found that Wayne's descriptions of these specific asset accounts were mistakes in expression that should be omitted in interpreting the trust agreement. The court excised the language Wayne used when making these specific bequests so they would read as follows: "Stock fund [A]ccount with Merrill Lynch," "Bond and stock [A]ccount with Oppenheimer," and "Bond [A]ccount with Edward Jones." This decision gives Wayne's adult children *all* of the assets on account with each brokerage, totaling

more than \$3.6 million, rather than the specifically described asset accounts in the sum of \$3.2 million. Lou appeals this judgment.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the district court err as a matter of law by failing to follow Kansas law for interpretation of trust instruments, including: (a) failing to give the language of the trust its plain meaning as understood by the settlor, an acknowledged sophisticated investor, (b) failing to harmonize and give effect to all provisions of the trust, (c) straining to find an ambiguity where, in common sense, there was none, and (d) excising and deleting language to rewrite the trust agreement rather than following the expressed intent of the settlor?
- 2. Did the district court err in disregarding the uncontroverted evidence showing the circumstances in which the trust was made and clarifying any perceived ambiguity, and deciding the issues without any substantial evidence in support of the decision?
- 3. Did the district court commit reversible error by excluding evidence proving the settlor's knowledge and attention to detail as a professional investor?
- 4. In the alternative, did the district court err in failing to give the required legal effect to the court's conclusion that the three items in question described only things that did not exist, which makes those items of the specific bequest void?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background and Procedural History

E. Louise Bjorgaard Probasco and G. Wayne Probasco were married on December 28, 1985. At the time of their marriage, Wayne had three adult children, Jeffrey W. Probasco, Kristi A. Hellmuth and Paula S. Freeman, and Lou had a ten-year-old daughter, Jennifer Massengale. Wayne died on July 14, 2013, a few months before he and Lou would have celebrated their 28th wedding anniversary. (R 1, pp. 21-22; R 10, p. 109)

Wayne and Lou, both lawyers, shared offices as well as home life. (R 10, pp. 9-10) Over the years, Lou developed a successful law practice while Wayne came to devote less time to practicing law and more time on his investments. (R 10, pp. 112:14-113:6) At the time of their marriage, Wayne and Lou had entered into a prenuptial agreement that contemplated maintaining separate property. (R 5, p. 425, § III) Over time, Wayne relied increasingly on Lou to advance money for his expenses and their joint expenses, which she willingly did. (R 5. p. 425 et seq.) Wayne also assumed control over a significant amount of Lou's funds, given to him to invest for her in checks payable to "Lou's Savings," which he had invested along with his own funds. (R 5, p. 422 et seq.) Wayne's unexpected death on July 14, 2013 following sudden, catastrophic health crises, left no occasion or opportunity to settle accounts with Lou. The amount due Lou increased thereafter when she incurred the expenses of his last illness, funeral, and

burial. (R 5, p. 423) In addition, ten weeks following the death of Wayne, Lou was notified by the Successor Trustee to obtain counsel as Beverly J. Probasco, the Decedent's Children's mother by and through the Decedent's Children's mutual attorney filed an Affidavit of Legal Interest at the Shawnee County, Kansas Register of Deeds claiming a 25% interest in Lou's homestead. (R 6, p. 625) The Successor Trustee took no action to quiet the title to this previously unknown purported lien and failed to reimburse Lou for the funeral, last illness and other expenses of Wayne advanced by Lou.

To protect her rights of homestead and reimbursement, on January 10, 2014 Mrs. Probasco petitioned for probate in Shawnee County, *In the Matter of the Estate of George Wayne Probasco*, Case No. 14 P 12. (R 1, p. 9) When she submitted her claims as a creditor, Wayne's adult children responded with objections and asserted setoffs against her, including claims for rent and maintenance of the homestead and for management fees purportedly for Wayne's investment of her funds. (R 5, p. 475) The children's attorney also pursued the affidavit of .legal interest for Wayne's first wife, Beverly, for money allegedly due her, which she claimed was a lien for a 25% interest on the homestead that was bequeathed to Lou. (R 6, p. 538, ¶ 7; p. 625)

Nearly all of Wayne's assets passed outside the will, by means such as beneficiary designations on life insurance and annuities, and, in larger part, through the G. Wayne Probasco Trust dated December 10, 1998 (the "Trust"),

from which Wayne had directed payment of debts, taxes, and expenses. The original trust agreement was superseded by a Restated Trust Agreement dated April 21, 2006, which was subsequently amended five times – the fifth and last being dated April 15, 2013 (the "Fifth Amendment"). (R 6, p. 622; Appendix 1)

After conducting discovery, Lou and Wayne's adult children engaged in mediation and then entered into a written Settlement Agreement dated May 21, 2015 (the "SA"). The Trustee bank was not a party to this action and did not participate in mediation, but afterward signed the SA as a stakeholder who would be implementing the payments and distributions. (R 6, p. 552) The SA provided for the compromise and settlement of Lou's claims and the counterclaims of Wayne's children for offsets. To settle her claims, which totaled \$2,516,016 (R 6, p. 434, \P 3), Lou agreed to accept \$1,100,000. (R 6, p. 536-37, \P 6(c)). The settled claims were limited to restoring to Lou her own funds that had been in Wayne's custody, and repaying the money she had advanced to Wayne or for his benefit before and after he died, all of which was her money and *not* a distribution as a trust beneficiary. (R 6, p. 536, \P 6(c)), and R 5, p. 422)

The SA expressly confirmed, consistent with the provisions of the Restated Trust Agreement, that the settlement payment to Lou and all other remaining debts and expenses of the estate were payable solely from Trust assets distributable to Wayne's adult children, with no expenses to be borne by Lou which was consistent with Wayne's Trust. (R 6, p. 536, ¶ 6(a) & (b)). It was also agreed that

the first wife's lien claim on the homestead would be dismissed. (*Id.* p. 538, ¶ 7) The SA further provided that after payment of debts and expenses, the trust assets would be distributed to the beneficiaries, Lou and Wayne's adult children, as provided by the Fifth Amendment to the Restated Trust Agreement. (*Id.*, pp. 536-538, ¶ 6)

Wayne's Trust Agreement

The SA did not change the terms of the Restated Trust Agreement, but rather incorporated and required compliance with the provisions of the trust as stated in the Fifth Amendment as written and without modification. (R 6, pp. 531 et seq., passim) Wayne's Trust Agreement and estate plan always provided, from the original through every amendment, for Lou to receive land, including their shared residence or homestead allowance and the law office they shared, plus significant liquid assets that could be readily converted into cash available to meet expenses, including the expenses of owning and maintaining illiquid real property. (R 6, pp. 570-624) From time to time, Wayne changed specific allocations of property among his beneficiaries, and his beneficiary designations on non-trust assets without changing the combination of illiquid real estate and significant liquid assets for Lou. The Fifth Amendment did not make specific bequests to charity, but as part of his modifications of his estate plan, Wayne changed the beneficiary on a \$365,000 annuity to Washburn University School of Law

Endowment (his wife, Lou had been the beneficiary), and he gave another \$70,000 to the Topeka YMCA via life insurance beneficiary designation. (R 7, p. 786)

The Fifth Amendment to the Restated Trust (R 6, pp. 622-24) provided for disposition of the assets held in the trust as follows:

- (1) Wayne's wife, Lou, would receive three parcels of land described as follows in paragraph 1 on page 2:
 - a. Northeast Fractional Quarter of Section 6, Township 12 South, Range 15, East of the 6th P.M. in Shawnee County, Kansas (commonly known as 1431 SW Urish Road) [their residence and surrounding land]
 - b. Original Town, Topeka Avenue Lots 191, 193, 195, 197 and the North 4 feet of Lot 99, in the City of Topeka. Original Town, Section 31, Township 11, Range 16, in Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas (commonly known as 615 SW Topeka Blvd.) [the law office valued at \$138,000]
 - c. The Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 25, Township 12, Range 13, East of the 6th P.M. in Shawnee County, Kansas [40 acres of unimproved land valued at \$98,000];
- (2) Wayne's three children were bequeathed in equal shares the intangible property listed in paragraph 2 on page 2.
 - a. Mutual fund account with Vanguard
 - b. Stock fund account with Merrill Lynch
 - c. Stock certificate with Glaxo Smith
 - d. Account with Stiffel Nickels
 - e. Wells Fargo stocks
 - f. Westar Energy stock
 - g. Bond and stock account with Oppenheimer
 - h. Bond account with Edward Jones
 - i. Two real estate contracts held by Kansas Secured Title Browning and Bylsma; and

(3) Paragraph 3 on page 2 directed the remainder or residuary be distributed as follows:

All other assets remaining in the Trust shall go to my wife, E. LOU BJORGAARD PROBASCO.

The SA specifically and repeatedly referred to, and directed compliance with, these provisions of the Fifth Amendment as written. (R 6, pp. 531-546, and particularly ¶ 6, p. 536-38)

The Issue

The district court summarized the issue before it as follows: "[T]he court has only one issue to decide: 'the meaning to be accorded to the specific bequests to Decedent's Children under the provisions of Subparagraph (2) of the Subject Fifth Amendment to the First Restatement of the Trust . . . " (R 8, p. 892) The court further explained that the issue was narrowed to three items: "[T]he parties now agree that the only disputed assets are the 'Stock fund account with Merrill Lynch,' the 'Bond and Stock Account with Oppenheimer,' and the 'Bond account with Edward Jones." (R 8, p. 886, ¶ 7).

The Evidence

The source of the dispute was revealed during the evidentiary hearing conducted on August 18, 2015. Mrs. Probasco and two expert investment advisors, who knew Mr. Probasco personally and were familiar with his investment practices and knowledge of the meaning of terms he used in the Fifth Amendment to the Restated Trust, testified in support of enforcing Wayne's

bequest of three designated accounts in accordance with the common understanding of the meaning of the terms he used. Ryan Hellmer, the most junior trust officer of the Trustee, CoreFirst Bank, initially had a different opinion on which Wayne's children relied (R 10, p. 24:19-22), but then on reflection admitted he was able to understand what assets Wayne was referring to in these three items. (R 10, p. 75:4-11)

Hellmer had graduated from law school in 2009 (R 10, 19:1) and engaged in private practice for less than five years. In March of 2014, eight months after Wayne died, Hellmer joined CoreFirst and was installed as the trust officer for the Probasco Trust. (*Id.*, 19:21-24) When Hellmer first assumed control of the Trust, nearly all of the assets had already been transferred from the financial institution in which Wayne had maintained them and instead liquidated and transferred to CoreFirst Bank and Trust. (R 10, 108:1-7)

Hellmer testified that he first read paragraph 2 of the Fifth Amendment a few months later. He described his casual first impression was as follows:

When I read the subparagraphs under paragraph 2 of the Fifth Amendment I interpreted this language to be proverbial references to accounts at brokerage firms. (R 10, p. 24:19-22)

When Hellmer again used this nondescript reference to a "proverbial" account later in his testimony, the court interjected:

THE COURT: I'm sorry, just what does proverbial mean to you? THE WITNESS: Just a common usage. (R 10, p. 255:1-3)

But on cross examination, Mr. Hellmer acknowledged that his "proverbial" assumption was imprecise and not in keeping with the common usage of the language describing the assets in the three items, which he agreed were distinguishable from the rest of the list.

- Q. Do you agree that the common usage of stock fund is a mutual fund investing in stock?
- A. I would agree with that. (R 10, p. 74:16-18, emphasis added)

Hellmer further agreed that a mutual fund investing in stock is "not synonymous" with investing in an individual stock. (R 10, p. 75:1-4) Mr. Hellmer readily acknowledged that an investment in an individual bond describes something different than a bond fund:

- Q. . . . From the standpoint of describing an asset, an investment asset, is a bond different, an individual bond, or *is a bond different than a bond fund*?
- A. It is. (R 10, pp. 83:25-84:4, emphasis added)

Hellmer, who was unaware whether Wayne Probasco was a sophisticated investor (R 10, p. 74:16-19), agreed it was reasonable to assume a sophisticated investor would use the more precise descriptions:

- Q. If you were being precise, and you were a sophisticated investor and were delineating the assets that you wanted to give in your trust to your children, and then to leave other assets that you weren't specifically delineating to the children in the residue to your wife, would it be reasonable to assume you would be precise in your descriptions?
- A. It would be reasonable. (R 10, p. 75:4-11)

With regard to the residuary bequest to Mrs. Probasco in numbered paragraph 3 of the Fifth Amendment to the Restated Trust, Mr. Hellmer freely acknowledged on direct examination the importance of being specific for purposes of this clause:

- Q. With regard to paragraph 3, how did you interpret that paragraph?
- A. That if there was any assets that were not specifically enumerated in the Fifth Amendment, that they would flow to Mr. Probasco's wife. (R 10, pp. 24:23-25:2, emphasis added)

Mr. Hellmer was not yet working at CoreFirst when the assets of the Wayne Probasco Trust were collected. (R 10, p. 70:17-25) During his testimony he was shown broker's monthly statements for some accounts, including Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer, and Edward Jones statements for the month immediately preceding Mr. Probasco's death (R 11, Exhibits A, B, and E). Helmer agreed that the only way to identify the assets listed in the Fifth Amendment was to look at statements from the various companies referred to in the list to identify the assets in the accounts at the time of death. (R 10, p. 70:11:25). Hellmer admitted he never consciously analyzed the specific delineations in the Fifth Amendment before forming his first impression of these bequests in 2014. (*Id.*, p. 79:16-21) He had first looked at the account statements after June 16, 2015, when Mrs. Probasco's counsel requested that the bank follow the directions of the Fifth Amendment in making distributions following the settlement of Mrs. Probasco's claims for allowance of demands. (*Id.*) (R 10, p. 68:17-25)

Hellmer then testified in detail that the monthly statements from the three brokerage firms included separate accountings by asset type--cash/money market

accounts, individual stocks or equities, bonds, and mutual funds that were stock funds and bond funds. (R 11, Ex. A, pp. 3-12 (Merrill Lynch June 2013 statement); Ex. B, pp. 13-18 (Edward Jones June 2013 statement); Ex. E, pp. 23-32 (Oppenheimer June 2013 statement)). Hellmer was able readily to identify the Merrill Lynch Assets properly defined and described as a "stock fund" and the assets that were not. (R 10, pp. 75:12-78:14). He identified assets that were individual stocks (Id., p. 75:12-78:2), and to identify REIT shares, which are equities, but not stocks. (Id, p. 77:1-120) Hellmer readily identified the mutual funds in line item accounts that invested in stock - Fidelity Advantage and Invesco Select Companies – and agreed that each was a "stock fund." (Id., p. 78:9-21) And he readily distinguished the account entry for a "bond fund" that was not a "stock fund." (Id., pp. 78:25-79:8). Hellmer agreed that, from the standpoint of the precise language used by Mr. Probasco, except for the two stock funds he identified, there were no other assets "that could be considered 'stock funds." (*Id.*, p. 79:9-15)

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