ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2016 Sep 29 AM 11:58 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 115032

Case No. 16-115032-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF GEORGE WAYNE PROBASCO, DECEASED.

E. LOU BJORGAARD PROBASCO, SURVIVING SPOUSE

Petitioner/Appellant

v.

JEFFREY W. PROBASCO, KRISTI A. HELLMUTH AND PAULA S. FREEMAN, DECEDENT'S CHILDREN,

Respondents/Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLEES JEFFREY W. PROBASCO, KRISTI A. HELLMUTH AND PAULA S. FREEMAN

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas The Honorable Frank J. Yeoman District Court Case No. 14PR12

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

<u>I.</u> The District Court Did Not Err as a Matter of Law in Determining that Ambiguity Existed in the 5th Amendment to the Trust.

The district court correctly ruled as a matter of law that the three (3) contested bequests were ambiguous, in that they could reasonably read in two ways, and Wayne's intent could not be determined by the four corners of the document. (R. XIII, 896.) Accordingly, the district

court properly determined the provisions in question were ambiguous and turned to parol evidence to assist in interpreting these bequests.

A. Standard of Review.

Whether an instrument is ambiguous is a matter of law to be decided by the appellate court. *In re Estate of Sanders*, 261 Kan. 176, 181, 929 P.2d 153 (1996) (citations omitted).

B. The district court properly considered the contested bequests ambiguous as a matter of law.

To be ambiguous, a document must contain language of "doubtful or conflicting meaning, as gleaned from a natural and reasonable interpretation of its language." Ambiguity exists only after rules of interpretation are applied and there remains "a genuine uncertainty which one of two or more meanings is the correct meaning." *Harmon v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 24 Kan. App. 2d 810, 815–16, 954 P.2d 7 (1998) (quoting *Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Old Hickory Cas. Ins. Co.*, 248 Kan. 657, 662, 810 P.2d 283 (1991) (Citation omitted.) The critical test in determining whether a written instrument is ambiguous is whether the intention of the author can be determined by the four corners of the instrument. *In re Estate of Somers*, 277 Kan. 761, 772, 89 P.3d 898 (2004).

As discussed above, the 5th Amendment to Wayne's Trust provided the following bequests to his three (3) children:

- 1. Stock fund account with Merrill Lynch; (G.2.b)
- 2. Bond and stock fund account with Oppenheimer (G.2.g); and
- 3. Bond account with Edward Jones. (G.2.h)

(R. VII, 741, 771.)

Throughout this litigation, Lou has gone to great lengths to detail Wayne's sophistication as an investor and the plain meaning of the terms "stock fund account," "bond and stock account," and "bond account." Neither Wayne's children nor the district court have disagreed

with these explanations; indeed, the plain meaning of these three (3) bequests is exactly what creates the ambiguity. While assets of each type existed at the various brokerage houses, there was no "stock fund account" with Merrill Lynch, no "bond and stock fund account" with Oppenheimer, and no "bond account" with Edward Jones.

A quick perusal of a monthly statement from Merrill Lynch reflects that all assets were held in a singular CMA (cash management account) FOR TRUST ACCOUNT; Account Number: 5FG-80633. (See App. 5) The same is true for the Oppenheimer bequest; there is no bond or stock account shown on an Oppenheimer monthly statement. What is shown on the monthly statement is a Portfolio Summary, which reflects equities, municipal bonds, and corporate bonds being held in a single master account. (See App. 6) Lastly, a review of the Edward Jones monthly statement shows no "bond account" listed. What is shown is a Summary of Assets that identified federally tax exempt municipal bonds and mutual funds, all of which are, again, held in the single master account. (See App. 7)

Although cases involving ambiguity are particularly fact-driven, the district court's determination that the three (3) contested bequests were ambiguous is supported by a Kansas Supreme Court case in which a testator left all of her "right, title and interest in and to a drug store...including fixture, merchandise and stock and accounts receivable owed to said store" to her stepson, but did not specifically devise a "Drug Store" bank account held at a local bank. *In re Blank's Estate*, 182 Kan. 426, 427-28, 320 P.2d 775 (1958). In ruling the will was ambiguous as to the drug store bank account, the Court considered the testator's broad bequest to her stepson, coupled with specific bequests to a sister and brother and her naming of the sister and brother as residuary legatees. The Court held that it was "unwilling to say...that, standing alone, the terms and provisions of [the testator's] will are so definite and certain as to compel a

conclusion she intended a bank account carried by her in the name of the drug store to pass under the residuary clause of her will." *In re Blank's Estate*, 182 Kan. at 430-31.

Similarly, as the district court held, Wayne's intent as settlor of his Trust cannot be determined from the four corners of the document. The district court correctly noted that the three (3) contested bequests could reasonably be interpreted in one of two ways. Either everything in the three (3) contested accounts could be passed entirely to his three (3) children or the bequests could be interpreted to bequeath only the stock funds, bonds and stocks, and bonds, respectively, to Wayne's children, while the remainder of the assets held within the respective brokerage accounts would pass to the residue and, subsequently, to Lou. (R. XIII, 897.) Standing alone, the language Wayne used in the three (3) contested bequests is not so definite and certain as to "compel a conclusion" that he intended the assets in question to pass to either his children or Lou. The district court was therefore left to determine whether Wayne intended to give more weight to the word "account" in each bequest or to focus on the type of asset granted in the bequests.

Because Wayne made bequests of assets that clearly existed, but the bequests could reasonably be read in more than one way, the district court was correct in concluding the three (3) contested bequests were vague and ambiguous.

II. Substantial Competent Evidence Supports the District Court's Decision to Interpret the Ambiguous Terms of the Trust According to Wayne's intent.

After determining that ambiguity existed in the three (3) contested bequests, the district court considered parol evidence to determine Wayne's intent in drafting the contested bequests. (R. XIII, 897-902.) Parol evidence is admissible to ascertain the meaning of words used if a court determines ambiguity exists in a written instrument. *Godfrey v. Chandler*, 248 Kan. 975, 978, 811 P.2d 1248 (1991). See *In re Estate of Sanders*, 261 Kan. at 182 (noting that trusts are

construed using the same rules as wills). Substantial competent evidence supports the district court's decision to interpret those trust provisions in favor of Wayne's children, and according to Wayne's intent.

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

Intent is an issue of fact; accordingly, the district court's determination on intent is reviewed for substantial competent evidence. *Kindergartners Count, Inc. v. DeMoulin,* 249 F.Supp.2d 1233, 1242 (D. Kan. 2003) (applying Kansas law); *Arkansas Louisiana Gas Co. v. State,* 234 Kan. 797, 799, 801, 675 P.2d 369 (1984).

B. <u>Substantial competent evidence supports the district court's decision to interpret the provisions of Wayne's trust in favor of Wayne's children.</u>

In determining Wayne's intent in drafting the contested bequests, the district court concluded that it was more logical than not that Wayne intended to pass all of the assets contained in the Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer and Edward Jones accounts to the Wayne's children. (R. XIII, 899.) The district court's finding is supported by substantial competent evidence because (a) Wayne only held one account at each of the brokerage firms in question; (b) Wayne passed individual stocks and assets in other areas of his trust without referencing an "account"; and (c) the 5th Amendment to the Trust did not appear to be drafted with any particular amount of care.

(1) Wayne possessed only one account at Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer, and Edward Jones, at the time of his death.

The district court ruled that there was not and never had been a "stock fund account" at Merrill Lynch; (However, at the time of his death, 80% of the assets in the \$303,013 were in stocks) a "bond and stock fund account" at Oppenheimer; or a "bond account" at Edward Jones, but there were master accounts with multiple assets at each brokerage house. (R. XIII, 899.) As

stated above, there is substantial competent evidence to support the district court's holding that Wayne held only one account at each of the aforementioned brokerage houses. See App. 5, 6 & 7. Further, as the district court notes in its decision, Lou herself concedes that each institution held a single "master account" with multiple types of investment assets in the account. (Emphasis added) (R. XIII, 802-03, 899.)

Given that Wayne had only one brokerage account with Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer and Edward Jones, the district court was correct in concluding that Wayne's testamentary intent was to pass the entirety of the assets in these accounts to his three (3) children.

(2) Wayne passed individual securities through his Trust without using the word "account."

The district court reasoned that if Wayne had intended to pass only the stock funds in the Merrill Lynch account, the stocks and bonds in the Oppenheimer account, and the bonds in the Edward Jones account, he easily could have done so with a clear language, as he did elsewhere in the 5th Amendment to his Trust. (R. XIII, 898.) The mere fact that "each account contained assets in addition to 'stock funds,' 'bonds and stocks,' and 'bonds,' respectively, does not demonstrate a testamentary intent to subdivide the general brokerage accounts into smaller subaccounts which, heretofore, never existed." (R. XIII, 899.)

Although Lou argues that the district court "rewrote" the 5th Amendment by passing the entire brokerage accounts to Wayne's children, the district court pointed out that Lou's own argument required an even more convoluted construction of ignoring the word "account" in the 5th Amendment and the brokerage statements. (R. XIII, 899.) Lou's position is essentially asking the district court to consider only the modifiers of "stock fund," "bond and stock," and "bond," while ignoring the reference to the entirety of an account. (R. XIII, 899-900.)

The district court's decision to read the three (3) bequests broadly, rather than construing the provisions so that assets would pass to the residuary, is in keeping with Kansas case law. Returning to the case of *In re Blank's Estate*, after determining an ambiguity existed as a matter of law, the district court was forced to determine the testator's intent in bequeathing her "right, title and interest in and to a drug store...including fixtures, merchandise and stock and accounts receivable owed to said store" to her stepson, but failing to specifically devise the "Drug Store" bank account. *In re Blank's Estate*, 182 Kan. at 427-28. Based on the testator's relationship with her stepson and the "extent of her property and the various bequests and dispositions made of her property by said last will and testament," the district court determined the testator's intent was for the "Drug Store" bank account to pass to the stepson as part of the larger drug store bequest. *In re Blank's Estate*, 182 Kan. at 432-35.

In upholding the district court, the Supreme Court cited approvingly several cases from other jurisdictions in which bequests were read inclusively to pass the maximum amount to the named beneficiary rather than reading bequests so that assets passed to the residuary beneficiaries. *In re Blank's Estate*, 182 Kan. at 434-36 (citing *Murphy v. Murphy*, 118 N.J.Eq. 108, 177 A. 682, affirmed in 119 N.J.Eq. 83, 180 A. 829 [regarding the bequest of a printing plant, the testator's use of the terms "machinery and plant and stock in trade, good will and fixtures" were not used as words of restriction, but instead specified some chief tangible property in the plant]; *In re Lowe*, 149 App.Div. 347, 134 N.Y.S. 537, affirmed in 206 N.Y. 671, 99 N.E. 722 [naming of specific physical items in bequest were words "merely of specification"]; *Chavis v. Myrick*, 190 Va. 875, 58 S.E.2d 881 [gift of whole interest in business necessarily included money in a bank account].)

Here, the district court's decision to give more emphasis to the term "account" than to the modifiers of "stock fund," "bond and stock," and "bond," is supported by both case law and the evidence. Rather than parsing Wayne's bequests of the accounts at the brokerage firms so that significant assets passed to the residue, the district court correctly determined that Wayne meant for the entirety of his accounts with Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer, and Edward Jones to pass to his children. This decision resonates with both the evidence of Wayne's intent and the approach of Kansas courts in construing ambiguous bequests.

(3) Wayne did not draft the 5th Amendment to his Trust with any particular level of care.

As the district court noted, the 5th Amendment to the Trust contained more than one error; Wayne misspelled the name of his daughter (Kristi Hel[I]muth) and the name of one of his brokerage firms. ("Stiffel Nickels" as opposed to "Stifel Nicolas") (R. XIII, 898-900.) The district court considered these misspellings in concluding that Wayne, as a sophisticated investor, would not attempt to pass assets that never existed. (R. XIII, 899.) Lou overstates the district court's reliance on these misspellings in her appellate brief, characterizing the court's consideration of the misspellings as the equivalent of determining someone with a dirty car is also careless in maintaining and driving the car as well. (Appellant's Brief, 34.) The district court never ruled that the misspellings resulted in ambiguity, only that the contested bequests, like his daughter's name and an erroneously spelled "Stiffel Nickels" account description in the same document, did not appear to have been drafted with any "particular amount of care." (R. XIII, 899.)

Moreover, the mere fact that Wayne was an attorney did not automatically endow him with expertise in drafting testamentary documents. To take Lou's car analogy for a spin, even

² The district court noted that the "Stiffel Nickels" account was an obvious misspelling of an account held with the brokerage firm of Stifel Nicolaus. (R. XIII, 898-99.)

professional drivers rely on trained mechanics to ensure a vehicle operates as it should. Wayne's ability to play the market and identify his assets should not bestow any deference upon his ability to draft a thorough, accurate estate plan which is free from ambiguities.

While Kansas does not appear to have directly addressed the issue of poor draftsmanship as it relates to a testator's intent, at least one other jurisdiction has considered a testator's lack of care in phrasing executory interests as indicative of the testator's intent. See *In re Micheletti's Estate*, 24 Cal. 2d 904, 911, 151 P.2d 833 (1944). Here, Wayne's lack of care in drafting the three (3) contested bequests in the 5th Amendment is probative in determining that he intended for the entire account at Merrill Lynch, Oppenheimer and Edward Jones to pass to Wayne's children. When considered as a factor in determining Wayne's intent, along with the existence of a single account at each brokerage house, and his ability to pass individual securities without using the word "account," these factors demonstrate that the district court's decision was firmly supported by substantial competent evidence and should be upheld.

III. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Refusing to Consider Cumulative and Uncontroverted Evidence Regarding Wayne's Sophistication as an Investor.

During the August 18, 2015 hearing on the Petition to Enforce Settlement Agreement,

Lou attempted to proffer additional evidence regarding Wayne's expertise and knowledge of
investment matters, such as a tax return where he labeled his profession as "investor," even
though his abilities in this field were uncontroverted. (R. X, 113-114.) The district court refused
to consider the evidence as being irrelevant. (R. X, 115-16.)

A. <u>Standard of Review.</u>

An appellate court reviews the determination of relevancy under an abuse of discretion standard. The party challenging the ruling bears the burden of showing an abuse of discretion. *State v. Morton*, 283 Kan. 464, 473, 153 P.3d 532 (2007). Errors in the admission or exclusion

of evidence are reversible only if such a decision affects a party's substantial rights. See K.S.A. 60-261.

B. The district court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to consider cumulative and uncontroverted evidence regarding Wayne's history as an investor.

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